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A fundamental choice: a defensive or offensive war. 

 

One could wonder about the real pacific intentions of Napoleon as he expressed them early 

April towards the allies, but reality was that they did not take this assistance. In fact they were 

bent upon an invasion of France to finish with Napoleon’s throne once and for all. It was not a  

matter whether this invasion would take place, but when. Key to the invasion would be the 

parallel advance of the different allied armies from the north and east, but its precise date was 

to be determined. 

As war was inevitable, it led Napoleon to think about  a fundamental choice, either to fight a 

defensive or an offensive war. As the allies were slowly building up their numbers and 

drawing in upon the frontiers of France, a defensive war - as fought in 1814 - seemed to be a 

serious option. 

A defensive war meant that Napoleon would slow down the allied advance through several 

defence lines and that he eventually would take up positions around Paris and Lyon to await 

the invasion there. 
1
 In Napoleon’s mind an invasion would consist of several armies 

converging upon Paris, as the main thrust would take place there, while other forces would 

move against Lyon.  

Converging upon the capital, the coalition forces had three major natural corridors to their 

disposal in and these were linked to three rivers running towards Paris: the Oise, the Marne 

and the Seine. 

Coming from the Netherlands, the Oise allowed the shortest and easiest access to Paris along 

both its banks. While its left bank was heavily covered with forests and major places like 

Maubeuge, Philippeville, Givet, Avesnes, Marienbourg and Rocroi formed a defensive 

network, its right bank was open and vulnerable.  

It had already been since the late 17
th

 century that Vauban had created a wide network of 33 

places fortes to defend France, with Paris as its core. In this network, the so-called “pré 

carré” formed the northern part. It comprised an area enclosed within two parallel lines of 

places fortes, between the North-sea and the Ardennes forming a barrier defence in which 

invading enemy forces would become “bogged down” preventing them from making any 

rapid and unopposed strike against France’s heartland. It also served as a springboard from 

which France could launch attacks on enemy territory. In 1815, however, the pre carré’s first 

line was for the most situated in the Southern Netherlands running from Dunkerque, through 

Bergues, Furnes, Knocke, Ypres, Menin, Lille, Tournai, Condé sur l’Escaut, Valenciennes, Le 

Quesnoy, Maubeuge and Philippeville to Givet. 

The second line, in France, ran from Gravelines in the west through St.Omer, Aire sur la 

Lyse, St.Venant, Béthune, Arras, Douai, Bouchain, Cambrai, Landrecies, Avesnes, 

Marienbourg, Rocroi, Mézières and Sedan to Stenay in the east. A third was formed by the 

line La Fère – Laon (see below). 

A second natural corridor into France was along the Marne, in the sector between Dun and 

Stenay, as well as through the defiles of the Argonne, through Charmes, in the low ground 

between the river Meuse and the Vosges. 

The gap between the Vosges and the Jura, through the city of Belfort, along the Seine river 

formed the third corridor. 

Protected from the north by a double line of places fortes, Paris was covered in the east by a 

belt of defensive positions in the vast plains of the Champagne in three segments: La Fère – 

Laon (facing the Oise sector), Laon - Reims (facing the Stenay and Argonne sector) and 

Epernay – Fontainebleau (facing the Charmes and Belfort sector). La Fère, at the junction of 

the rivers Oise and Serre, covered by inundations and connected to Laon, and as such a camp 

retranché, formed an immense place d’armes where an army could recuperate and form to 
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face an enemy coming from the north / north-east. 

In addition, any enemy army after having crossed the Meuse north of Verdun and following 

the course of the Aisne, would find the obstacle formed by the heights between Craonne and 

Reims. In turn, the fortress of Condé-sur-Aisne linked it to the cities of Laon and Reims. This 

last city, in turn, was of an immense strategic significance as it was there that all roads coming 

from the Argonne to Paris converged. 
2
 

In a defensive war, Napoleon would operate from this central position, seeking to crush the 

enemy armies one by one. What of course counted was the time-frame in which an invasion 

could be expected. 

Napoleon was well aware that the advance of the Austrian and particularly of the Russian army 

towards the Rhine would take time to be completed. Was it still towards the end of April that he 

considered an invasion highly probable, it was just around that time that he  learned about the 

postponement of the invasion until the 1
st
 of June. 

3
 This decision gave Napoleon what he needed 

most: time. Time, to increase his forces and their equipment.  

Taking into account the experience of the war of 1814, it was realistic to suppose that the allies 

would in this case not be able to reach Paris before the 1
st
 of July, so another two months would 

in this scenario be gained. 

Napoleon’s supposition about a general allied invasion set for the 1
st
 of June continued until the 

second week of May, when he learned about its postponement towards the 16
th
 of June. 

4
 In the 

worst case  scenario, this would mean that the allied armies could reach Paris by the middle of 

July. 
5
 

A defensive war would not only allow Napoleon to increase his forces, it would also force the 

enemy to leave large numbers of forces in his rear to besiege the places fortes and to protect his 

communications. Taking the 1
st
 of July as the start date of the allied invasion, Napoleon 

calculated a figure of 150.000 men of the coalition as needed for these purposes - of a total of 

about 650.000 men. In this way, about 500.000 men would be left to fight the armies around 

Paris and Lyon. 
6
 

The time bought by fighting a defensive war could also be used to complete the fortifications of 

Paris and Lyon and to increase the equipment of the forces in general. Politically, a defensive 

war had both its pros and cons. An invasion into France would attach to the allies the odium of 

initiating war, and in this way they would strengthen Napoleon’s position in France. 
7
 

A defensive war also would allow Napoleon more time to complete his control over the royalists. 

Though he had crushed the open royalist rebellion in the south-west and south, in the north anti-

Bonapartist feelings were strong. And it was just there, in the event of a defensive war, that 

territory had to be given up to the allies, thereby creating for the royalists the opportunity to join 

the allies, and this in its turn would destabilize Napoleon’s position. In general, a defensive war 

would bring war into the country itself. 

This would not be the case in case Napoleon would take the initiative himself, by attacking the 

allies in a key sector before they would be able to invade France themselves on a wide front, i.e. 

from the north and east of France. The general aim would be to destabilize the coalition by 

gaining a victory over a part of it.  The year 1814 had shown that the allied coalition was fraught 

with fundamental differences, conflicts of interest and divergent aims. 

A success would not only most probably disrupt the allied coalition – and this was even as much 

as important - it would also strengthen his position within France. And given the political 

situation this is what Napoleon needed given the hostility of the chambers and the  open or 

smouldering royalist feelings in parts of the country. At the same time, if this very chance would 

turn into a serious defeat it might accelerate his loss of power, not only from a military, but also 

from a political point of view: it would bring upon him all his domestic enemies in the 

government and the Chambre. 
8
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The choice for an offensive in the north. 

 

For Napoleon, weighing all arguments for a defensive war eventually did not convince him. 

Therefore he choose for the option to wage an offensive against the allies before they would 

make their strike against him. Napoleon took this fundamental decision for the offensive in the 

early days of May (see below). 
9
 

In the scenario of an offensive, the option as sketched above would only make sense against 

those allied forces which were nearest to France and ready to be attacked: these were those in the 

Netherlands (the armies led by Wellington and Blücher) and those on the Rhine (those of Von 

Kleist and Schwarzenberg).  

Given the forces at his disposal, Napoleon could not afford to fight a war on two fronts. He could 

tumble the forces on the Rhine, but while doing so he could run the risk of having both 

Wellington and Blücher enter France in his rear, thereby cutting him off from Paris. Yet, as he 

would attack both these commander’s armies, he assumed succour from the Rhine would not 

evolve right away. In addition, Napoleon was well aware that the interests of Britain and Prussia 

in the Netherlands pulled in different directions, both politically and geographically. Though 

Napoleon thought Blücher was bold enough, Napoleon deemed Wellington an over-rated and 

selfish general who would be open for an alliance.  

Napoleon had also most of his first-line forces already in northern France and in the Alsace, so 

that a concentration for a major and immediate strike could be more easily concealed in the north 

than in the east. In throwing his Armée du Nord against only one of the two armies in the 

Netherlands, Napoleon would be fighting at a numerical equality and probably with a qualitative 

advantage, with all that meant for his chances. This improvement, however, was dependent upon 

the time it took for the second army to come to the other’s support and thereby restoring 

predominance to the allies. 
10

 

An offensive against the Netherlands would, in case of success, turn this territory into French 

hands, as also parts of the left bank of the Rhine. This not only had a huge military, but also a 

political importance: the newly established kingdom of the Netherlands would be cut up and 

more, importantly, it would break British interests and access in that area. Also, Louis XVIII 

would have to seek for a new refuge elsewhere which would further weaken his position. Further 

it was Napoleon’s hope that the British cabinet would fall as a result and that a peace-minded 

cabinet would be formed.  

On the longer term, a succesful strike against the Netherlands could generate other advantages as 

well. France, now commanding the Rhine, would rule over communication in Central Europe 

and it also gave a chance that minor states like Saxony, Bavaria and Würtemberg - all former 

partners of Napoleon – would eventually turn against the allies after all. 

There also might be a chance that it would lead Austria and Russia to settle their own terms with 

Napoleon. On the Rhine front, the allied leaders – czar Alexander, Frederick Wilhelm – had a 

long and proven reputation for caution and indecision, of internal rivalries and differing 

objectives: when threatened they became discouraged and thought of retreat or armistice at once. 

Politically, Austria could aim at the recognition by Napoleon of the integrity of its borders 

against Prussian and Russian actions, while a recognition of Napoleon by the czar could give 

prospects for the recognition of Poland as Russian territory. In this way, Napoleon could make 

use of the individual interests of the main powers of the fourth coalition.  
11

  

 

After the general threat of an invasion at the northern frontier late April, it became apparent to 

Napoleon around the same time that the invasion of France had been fixed by the allies on the 1st 

of June. During the month of April there are no references in Napoleon’s correspondence to any 

offensive actions whatsoever. The formation of the Armée du Nord in the north was a preventive 
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action to make sure he had a masse de manoeuvre to work with in case of such an invasion in the 

north of the country. Yet, this did not materialize.  

Aware of the date set for the allied invasion, Napoleon started considering to make a strike in the 

north with the Armée du Nord before the 1
st
 of June. The time needed for this army to 

concentrate on its centre was calculated to be about 10 days. 
12

 For an offensive starting late 

May, it would mean that the first orders for such a concentration should be issued by mid-May.  

As far as can be ascertained, it was on the 9
th
 of May that Napoleon made a first written 

reference to a possible offensive in the north as he wrote to Davout: “As I have already ordered, 

general Vandamme has to assemble his corps near Rocroy and Philippeville. You will inform 

him that he is part of the armée du Nord; that he has to assemble at the Sambre, where he I 

will also probably will be in order to act in force.” 
13

 The same day, he nominated Soult as 

chief of staff for the Armée du Nord. 
14

 So, by then he had set his mind upon moving against 

the enemy in the north with his armée du Nord, but the point where he would do so was still 

to be determined. 
15

  

 

On the 13
th

 of May , Napoleon wanted to be informed by Davout about the width of the canals 

of Condé, of the river Scheldt near Mons, of the river Sambre near Charleroi, of the canal of 

Brughe and of that of Brussels and of the river Meuse near Maastricht. 
16

 Additionally, he 

requested Reille two days later: “to make a careful reconnaissance of the course of the Sambre 

up to the border and, from there, up to Charleroi and make sure to have detailed information 

about the crossings and places where bridges can be thrown. It is necessary to determine four 

of such points and which are in each other’s immediate vicinity, up to about 4.5 kilometres 

from Charleroi, so that each army corps will be able to cross in case the emperor wants to 

strike in that direction. Therefore it is important to determine the width of the river as well as 

the nature of the terrain on both its banks.” 
17

 This request was linked to his request from two 

days before for the establishment for the incorporation  of pontoons into the Armée du Nord, 

meant for the construction of bridges over the rivers Scheldt and Sambre, as well as the canals 

in the Netherlands. 

 

The options for an offensive in the north. 

 

For the invasion of the Netherlands, several options were open for Napoleon. In a general sense, 

he was informed about the development of the allied cantonments, their strengths and their lines 

of retreat.  

First of all, he could invade it in the sector between the sea and the river Scheldt. It was basically 

a virtually flat area, and therefore easy for manoeuvring. Access was possible through several 

major paved roads leading from Lille to Ghent (either through Menin and Courtrai, or through 

Tournai and Audenarde), or to Brussels (through either Courtrai and Audenarde or Tournai and 

Audenarde). Yet, at the same time this sector was cut up by canals, inundations and places fortes 

so therefore also favourable for defence. 

Though Ghent would be virtually uncovered, it could be expected that Wellington would take up 

defensive positions along the Scheldt and / or Dendre to protect Brussels and his line of retreat 

towards Antwerp. In sufficiently delaying the French advance, it would also allow the Prussians 

to advance from the east for a possible joint action in front of Brussels.  

By mentioning Lille in his memoirs, Napoleon meant an attack towards Tournai and as he 

describes it, this offensive would only drive Wellington back to his centre while at the same it 

gave the Prussians the time to concentrate and to unite with Wellington, something Napoleon 

obviously wanted to avoid at all costs. In reality, it should be taken into account, however, 

that Napoleon was aware of the principal lines of retreat of Wellington and Blücher, i.e. to the 

north (Antwerp) and the Meuse. 
18
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Another option was an invasion upon Wellington’s sector between the rivers Scheldt and 

Sambre. Here, the flat part of Flanders runs into the slightly undulating plains of Hainaut and 

Brabant. Having no larger cities and no other rivers, this sector was also suited for manoeuvring 

while access was granted through several major roads as well. From Condé, Valenciennes and 

Maubeuge direct roads ran towards Brussels through Mons, Braine le Comte and Halle. Others 

ran from Condé and Lille through Tournai, Ath and  Enghien to Brussels, while another one 

led from Condé and Maubeuge through Binche and Nivelles to Brussels. Further east,  

another led from Charleroi to Brussels. 

As the western part of the sector was screened by the river Scheldt, access from the line 

Valenciennes - Bavay - Maubeuge was the most easy. Having concentrated observation corps 

there since March, the element of surprise was out of the question. An offensive along the axe 

Valenciennes – Mons would most probably lead Wellington to concentrate his forces around 

Braine le Comte or further to the rear, just in front of Brussels. Though the element of surprise 

of an offensive from here was absent, if it would be a swift one it might give Napoleon the 

possibility of at least destroying part of Wellington’s forces thereby forcing him to pull back 

upon the capital or even further, towards Antwerp. In such a scenario, the Prussian army 

would not be able to turn up in time to assist Wellington, if they would be willing to move 

towards Wellington that far at all. 
19

 On the other hand, if Wellington would make a stand in 

front of Brussels, Blücher might attempt to move in Napoleon’s rear.  

Within the same sector, there was also a possibility of moving along the axe formed by the 

Roman road. This road formed the demarcation line between the allied armies. Making a 

powerful thrust along this road would most probably pierce their frontline, having each allied 

army fall back upon its centre instinctively.  For Wellington, this would in all probablity be 

the area around Braine le Comte and for Blücher one around Sombreffe or further east. It gave 

Napoleon the chance to move against Wellington with the majority of his army before 

Blücher would be able to join him. 

The right bank of the Meuse also offered possibilities for an offensive. Though dominated by the 

extensions of the Ardennes  as far as the river Moselle, access in this region was possible by 

major roads starting from Philippeville and Givet. 

 

Napoleon had made up his mind in the sense that he would fix the date of war and not the 

allies. This can be taken from what he wrote to Davout on the 16
th

 of May: “War is about to 

take place, and the soldier cannot enter the field with just a ration of four days of bread.” 
20

 It 

should be born in mind that at that moment Napoleon had learned about the new date set for 

the allied invasion, the 16
th

 of June. 
21

This delay allowed Napoleon to postpone his offensive 

in a parallel way. Therefore, some days later Napoleon fixed his offensive at the middle (14
th

 ) 

of June, as becomes clear from what he wrote to Davout on the 27
th

 of May in relation to the 

formation of artillery in Paris: “Check whether it would be possible to form at the Invalides 

four companies of gunners who can immediately be trained. I wish this to be started next 

Monday, the 29
th

, and will be completed, as I have said before, on the 5
th

 of June, as I want 

this to be done before the hostilities, so that the operation can go on until the 10
th

 of June 

[…]” 
22

 

On the 22
nd

 of May, Napoleon wrote to Soult in two different letters: “My cousin, ask for six 

engineers of bridges and roads and who are acquainted in detail about all the roads and 

localities of the departments of Belgium  and of the left bank of the Rhine; join them to the 

suite of the general staff.” -  “My cousin, inform general Vandamme that his position under 

Chimay uncovers his movement too much; that from Rocroy, through Couvin, he is just six 

leagues from Philippeville. In case I take the offensive to the left, the centre would be at 

Philippeville, while the left would be at Maubeuge. Therefore, it is necessary that the road 
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leading from Rocroy to Philippeville is open, and the post of Marienbourg covers it 

perfectly.” 
23

 

These statements make it clear that Napoleon had by then decided to attack from the right 

bank of the Sambre, either through Maubeuge (the left), through Beaumont / Philippeville 

(centre) or through Philippeville / Givet (the right).  

Meanwhile, somewhere in the third week of May, however, the Armée du Nord was drained 

with 10.000 men for their mission to the Vendée, and this obliged Napoleon to neutralize this 

loss by involving other forces for his offensive in the north. 

On the 25
th

 of May Napoleon wrote to  Soult that it was his intention that Gérard would hold 

his “entire army corps in column, between Thionville and Metz, so as to be able to move 

according to circumstances and the orders he may receive, either to manoeuvre with the 

Armée du Rhin, or to close upon the Armée du Nord, crossing the Meuse.” 
24

  

Eventually, Napoleon decided between the 25
th

 of May and the 5
th

 of June to use the Armée 

de la Moselle for his campaign in the Netherlands, the moment he pulled it towards his Armée 

du Nord. By now, Napoleon’s baseline choice whom to attack first was the Prussian army 

with this combined force through the line Beaumont / Philippeville - Charleroi, just before the 

allies were supposed to invade France. 
25

 Yet, the timely junction of the armée de la Moselle 

with the armée du Nord would eventually determine whom to attack in the north first, Blücher 

or Wellington. If Gérard would turn up in time it would be the Prussians in the sector 

described above, if he wouldn’t, Wellington through Maubeuge towards Mons. 
26

  

 

About his choice to launch his offensive towards the Sambre through Charleroi, Napoleon 

himself writes: “To attack the two enemy armies, the French could go round their right, their 

left and pierce through their centre. In the first case, they would go through Lille and would 

encounter the Anglo-Dutch army; in the second, they would go through Givet and Charlemont 

and would encounter the Prussian-Saxon army. Both these armies would still be united , as 

one would be driven upon the other, from right to left and from left to right. The emperor took 

the decision to cover his movements by the Sambre and to pierce the line of the two armies at 

Charleroi, point of junction, manoeuvring with speed and skill. In this way he found in the 

secrets of warfare the supplementary means to weigh up against the hundred-thousand men he 

lacked; this plan was designed and executed with audacity and steadiness.”  
27

 

Whatever one can think of the courage and wisdom with which the manoeuvre was carried 

out, the element which stands out is the one of surprise. It is described in such an extent that it 

would in fact neutralize French numerical inferiority. The 100.000 men may be an 

exaggeration, but the difference in numbers in reality was material and there is no doubt that 

for Napoleon the surprise of an attack towards the Sambre at Charleroi was a vital element in 

the campaign. 
28

 

As has been shown above, faced with superior numbers, the very basic principle for Napoleon 

for the campaign was that he would be able to deal with both opponents separately.  

Obviously, in the contrary sense, the principle for the allies was mutual cooperation as their 

only chance of success. As such, their individual freedom of movement was considerable, but 

at the same its limitation was this very cooperation. 
29

 

Napoleon’s high expectation of the elements of speed and surprise was based upon the 

extended cantonments of both allied armies as their commanders simply would need time to 

concentrate their armies. 
30

 In falling upon the Prussian army first, Napoleon expected them 

either to confront him near the Sambre or to fall back without a fight upon the Meuse. In the 

second case, they would move away from Wellington which is just what he wanted, while in 

the first case Napoleon counted that Blücher would not be able to concentrate his full army in 

time to fight Napoleon there, thereby considerably adding up to the chances of a French 
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victory. Basically, it meant a partial Prussian concentration towards the Sambre in front of 

Napoleon’s main army. Time would tell whether Blücher wanted to take this risk. 
31

 

One of Napoleon’s many axiomas of war reads: “Do not do what the enemy wants you to do 

for the sole reason that he desires; avoid the battlefield that he has reconnoitred, studied and 

the more so one which he has reinforced, where he has entrenched himself.” 
32

 Obviously, 

Napoleon was aware of this principle in this case, but the combination of his own speed and 

surprise on the one hand and a Prussian lack of forces in such a chosen position on the other, 

convinced him to fall upon them through Charleroi. The axioma evidently applied in the same 

way to his other opponent, Wellington. If he would choose for a partial concentration on his 

extreme left wing, he would take a similar risk, particularly in case Napoleon would turn his 

main army against him right from the start.  

Houssaye says about the manoeuvre towards Charleroi: “By one of his most beautiful 

strategical concepts, the emperor decided to boldly move into the very heart of the enemy 

cantonments, at the supposed concentration point of the Anglo-Prussians. It was on the road 

from Charleroi to Brussels, forming the communication-line between both armies that 

Napoleon, coming from Beaumont and Philippeville, expected to throw himself with the 

speed of lightning.” 
33

 

Whatever in this version this “supposed concentration point” may have been, the suggestion 

that the road leading from Charleroi to Brussels was the demarcation-line between both allied 

armies is simply incorrect as this was  - as has been shown - the Roman road. 

Napoleon himself describes Charleroi as the junction of both allied armies, but in real life he 

was very well aware that his attack was directed upon the right flank of the Prussian army, 

and not one on the exact point where it joined Wellington’s army. 
34

 Actually, he wrote to his 

brother Joseph on the 14
th

 of June: “Tomorrow, I will go to Charleroi, where the Prussian 

army is; this will result in either a battle or the retreat of the enemy.” 
35

 

And to Davout he wrote the same day: “I will cross the Sambre tomorrow, the 15
th

. In case the 

Prussians will not evacuate it, we will have a battle.” 
36

 It is clear from these words that he 

expected either to have a confrontation with the Prussians at the Sambre river, or their retreat 

towards the Meuse.  

 

Napoleon’s plan for the campaign in the Netherlands. 

 

In general, it was not Napoleon’s custom to show the actual concept of his plan for a 

campaign; he kept it for himself, and the campaign of 1815 was no exception. Therefore, any 

contemporary references to this concept are virtually non-existant. Additionally, to derive the 

plan from the later sequence of events in the campaign itself is most detrimental to any 

serious attempt to describe this plan. 

For a start, in taking into account that the Russian and Austrian armies would invade France 

by the end of June, it meant that Napoleon had two weeks time to crush his enemies in the 

Netherlands. That was the time-schedule Napoleon was dealing with. 

Whatever the allies would do (confront him or not), after he had made sure that they would not 

be able to join forces, Napoleon’s first main target for the campaign in the Netherlands was to 

seize its capital, Brussels. He saw the occupation of this city through a swift and blunt offensive 

as a very significant instrument in the disruption of  the allied cooperation in the Netherlands and 

eventually in the possible political – and herewith military - destabilisation of the allied coalition. 
37

  

In fact, the occupation of Brussels was Napoleon’s first stage for restoring  France to its 

“natural” border in the north, i.e. the Rhine. 
38

 Of course this was not new. In fact, Napoleon had 

done his utmost in the negotiations with the allies all the way through in 1813 and 1814 to 

maintain at least this border. Yet, it was this very idea which formed the insurmountable 
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stumbling-block in these negotiations. It should be emphasized that the restoration of this natural 

border formed the very blueprint of the grand strategic dimensions Napoleon was thinking from 

in staging his campaign in 1815.  

Napoleon was aware of the impetuous and offensive character of Blücher, contrary to 

Wellington’s more cautious and methodical approach. Yet, in case both Blücher and 

Wellington would face him south of Brussels, he planned to use the “strategy of the central 

position” as the basic strategic principle of the campaign.  

In this context fits the principle as Napoleon describes it in his letter to Ney on the morning of 

the 16
th

 of June. It says:“ For this campaign, I have adopted the general principle of dividing 

my army in two wings and a reserve. [..]  The guard will form the reserve and I will move to 

one or the other wing, according to circumstances. [..] Depending upon circumstances, I will 

weaken one or the other wing, while strengthening my reserve. You understand the importance 

of seizing Brussels. This may, by the way, lead to incidents, as such a swift and sudden 

movement will isolate the British army from Mons, Ostende etc. ” 
39

 

The strategy of the central position, as used by Napoleon before, was built upon two elements: 

surprise and security. First of all, the enemy should have no idea about the number of French 

forces opposing him and what intentions they had, and secondly the important pre-action moves 

were to be secured by natural and military cover. The element of surprise has been stressed 

before. 

Within this scheme, it was Napoleon’s strategy to divide his force into an advance guard, two 

wings and a reserve, and this is what he did in 1815. After the initial advance, it was the trick to 

seize a central position between the components of the enemy’s forces, from which Napoleon 

would be able to set out to defeat both opponents in detail. 

Having made a firm contact with the surprised foe, Napoleon could use a part of his total force to 

tie down and occupy the attention of each enemy force.Then, still retaining the initiative, he 

could move his reserve, and if necessary part of a wing, to build up a local superiority on one 

battlefield or the other. 

Within this approach, the use of part of the other wing was the “manoeuvre sur les derrières.” In 

that case, Napoleon induced the opponent to advance against what he was led to believe a 

holding action on that sector, while the bulk of the army swept around the enemy in forced 

marches, compelling him either to surrender or to give battle with no satisfactory line of retreat.  

Then, after the defeating the first enemy, Napoleon would leave a detachment to pursue the 

survivors and counter-march with the remainder and the reserve to repeat the process on the 

second battlefield. Of course, correct timing was essential. If too long time elapsed before the 

reserve could reach the second battlefield, the embattled French pinning force might well go 

under, and the victorious foe swing forward to envelop the French rear. 
40

 

In theory, once having gained the central position, the priority for striking at one of the enemy 

armies could either go to Wellington or to Blücher, but in this particular case, in combining the 

element of the attack on the Prussian army first, it becomes clear that Napoleon  reckoned to 

deal with Blücher first, pursue him with part of his forces, and then to deal with Wellington – 

presuming of course both generals would confront the French army. Either way, it was his 

intention to throw Blücher to the east, away from Wellington, to be sure Blücher would not 

fall upon his flank or rear as he advanced upon Brussels.  

By driving Blücher east beyond the Meuse, Napoleon reckoned Wellington would move beyond 

Antwerp, without engaging a battle in front of Brussels on his own. In this way, both his 

opponents in the Netherlands would be forced to fall back along diverging lines of retreat. 
41

  

The result Napoleon expected to have was to reach Brussels within a time-frame of three days. 

Having this political trophy in his hands, Napoleon expected the Belgians to rally to his cause 

and to re-establish his power in the territory of the Southern Netherlands. Reinforced with the 
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Armée du Rhin and forces from the interior, he would then move against the Russian and 

Austrian armies towards the Rhine. 
42

 

 

In case things would not work out the way Napoleon had designed them to unroll in the 

Netherlands, a defensive war could be waged after all, in the system as it was set up right from 

the moment he had returned in Paris. 
43

 For this reason, Napoleon continued to work on the 

defence of the country even while he was busy concentrating his Armée du Nord for the 

offensive in the Netherlands. 

For instance, on the 6
th

 of June, he ordered Suchet, through Davout, to establish a camp 

militaire between Génève and Lyon from the 10th of June onwards as a defence against the 

threat as coming from Switserland. In addition, Suchet was also supposed to assemble his 

forces in front of Chambéry between the 10
th

 and the 15
th

 of June. 
44

 

At the same time, Napoleon had ordered Davout make further arrangements for the 

completion by the 15
th

 of June of the artillery at the bridges of the river Saône, around Lyon 

and at Chateau-Thierrry, Langres, Vitry, Laon and Soissons. 
45

 

And on the 9
th

 of June Napoleon wrote to Davout: “It is most important that on the 13
th

 of 

June, pour tout délai, all national guards from the places in the first line in the north, Rhine 

and Jura are perfectly armed, those from the north and the Meuse in particular. It is also 

important if you could let me know whether on the 13
th

 of June there will be convoys of 

gunpowder, weapons, guns etc. near the frontier in the north, and therefore susceptible of 

being taken by the enemies.” 
46

 

For the defence of Paris, Davout received from Napoleon on the 11
th

 of June the following 

instruction: “158 guns from the navy have arrived in Paris. Take care that they will be in 

batteries before the 20
th

. That date, there will be another 80 as well. It is importantn that the 

240 guns are in batteries towards the 20
th

 so that I will not have to worry about the city of 

Paris.” 
47

 This last remark was all too clear in case a defensive war had to be waged after all. 

It was at Laon on the 12
th

 of June that Napoleon wrote to Davout about the defence line along 

the Marne, as it was just then that he requested him to make a full report on all reconnaisances 

which had taken place along that river – from its source to its mouth - in the sense of bridges, 

bridge-heads, fords, armament etc. 
48

 

And it was on the 14
th
 of June that Napoleon issued further instructions for defensive measures to 

be taken, for instance by general Suchet at Montmélian and Lyon and by Davout himself in Paris 

(to make sure about the presence of sufficient artillery before the 25
th
 of June).   

General Lecourbe was supposed to defend the passage of the Rhine first, then the Vosges and the 

Jura, Belfort,  Langres and the rivers Saône, Aube, Seine and - eventually - the Yonne. 

Suchet, eventually, had to defend Lyon, the Saône and the Rhône, while Rapp was to fight a 

defensive war by using consecutive positions in the Alsace, the Vosges, and then along the rivers 

Meurthe, Moselle, Meuse and Marne. In this, he had to keep in touch with general Belliard (on 

the Meurthe and Moselle) and Lecourbe (at the Swiss border). 
49

 

 

Napoleon himself says about his plan that he intended to attack, separate and beat both the 

Anglo-German-Netherlands and Prussian army.  
50

 In order to act from a central position 

between both armies - presuming these formed a closed front - it was obviously necessary for 

Napoleon to create such a position. This has led in the historiography of the campaign to a 

discussion about the concept of the expression that Napoleon “threw himself between both 

armies in order to separate them.” 

Von Clausewitz regards this expression in military terminology as a terminus technicus, as one 

which basically lacks a clear idea of what is actually meant. He understands the principle as one 

in which the interval between two armies itself can never be the object of military operations; for 

him it would be as if Napoleon “would hit the empty space between the armies” which would be 
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a very precious loss of time in a delicate situation with two opponents. His axioma is that all 

operations were to be directed to one determining element: the decisive battle, in this case with 

the Prussians first. 
51

 

Grouard, in his reaction on Von Clausewitz, launches the concept of the “rupture stratégique.” 

In his view, in order to beat each allied army individually, it was simply necessary to split them 

first and then to cling to both of  them in the way as its has been described above. It was the trick 

to create an interval first and then to use it by beating one army at the time with the main force, 

while the other opponent would be occupied by a secondary force. If there would have been an 

interval between both allied armies already for some reason or another, it would have been the 

most efficient to exploit it. 
52

 

Lenient, in his turn, approaches the subject more pragmatically and as a result he regards the 

“rupture stratégique” as too rigid and abstract. What counts for him is a concept built upon 

elements such as time, space and other circumstances of the moment. First of all, Lenient points 

to the fact that Charleroi was not the centre of the allied positions, so -  in that sense - an attack 

there could never be an actual decisive rupture stratégique. In that scenario Napoleon could also 

not be certain that the allies armies would not attempt to unite. Here Lenient presumes that they 

would concentrate at Quatre Bras and Sombreffe respectively, and this – as will be demonstrated 

below – was not automatically the case. This brings Lenient to conclude that - realistically - all 

that could be expected  was a battle with the Prussian army. 
53

 

Yet, it was not that Napoleon was seeking for such a confrontation by all means, as Von 

Clausewitz sees it. As Napoleon writes himself, the attack upon Charleroi would either result in a 

battle at the Sambre or a Prussian retreat. What counted for Napoleon was not a battle per se, but 

the fact that he would be able to place himself there, and from where he then would be able to act 

against any enemy’s intentions.  

Lenient sees the manoeuvre through Charleroi as one of which the advantages have often been 

exagerated and its drawbacks neglected. His main reasoning for this is that if there would be a 

confrontation with Blücher, this then would be one of which Blücher would have decided where 

to fight it, and this situation would not be in favour of Napoleon. The only things which could 

neutralize this situation were the tardy reaction of the allied armies and a swift and crushing 

French victory. 
54

 Yet, it was just upon these very principles that Napoleon built his plan for the 

campaign: an incomplete  concentration of the opposing armies south of Brussels on the one 

hand and a French sudden attack upon them on the other. This combination would be the key to 

victory. 

According to Lenient it was for Napoleon impossible to create a so-called zône de manoeuvres 

stratégique as there was simply not enough space to do this in relation to the allied concentration 

points. However, as this idea upon which this reasoning is based is incorrect, this theory fails.  
55

 

In fact, if for Lenient a rupture stratégique would normally require an interval of about 40 to 45 

kilometres, then this could have been possible if Napoleon had thrown his right wing towards 

and beyond Sombreffe and his left towards Braine le Comte. But the fact was that he did not. As 

a matter of fact, in reality the  interval between both these points was the one both allied 

commanders were using as a starting point in their arrangements from where they would 

cooperate if Napoleon would act in the allied centre. 
56

 

 

Napoleon versus Wellington and Blücher: strengths. 

 

The strengths of the allied armies in relation to Napoleon’s option of a defensive war have been 

mentioned. Obviously, these strengths played an important role in the consideration of this 

option, but of course also for the option of an offensive war. 

It is of the greatest importance to reconstruct how Napoleon distributed the forces he expected to 

have by the time the offensive was about to start, and why he did so. In this distribution, a 
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distinction should be made between the mobile army and the auxiliary army. The core of the 

question is to what degree parts of the mobile army were kept by Napoleon in those units 

functioning as a screen on the frontiers and why he did so, as this influenced the strength of his 

mobile army in his offensive war.  

Yet, to do this, first of all, one is faced with a lack of contemporary sources. By the time 

Napoleon chose for an offensive on his northern frontier early May, no data about the strength of 

the French mobile and auxiliary armies are available. These figures can only be confirmed by the 

beginning of June and summarizing they can be estimated to be around 175-180.000 men for the 

mobiel army and about 210.000 men for the auxiliary army. 
57

 

Late March, the only resources Napoleon had available for the increase of his forces were those 

to return from a limited or unlimited leave (32.800 men) and deserters (85.000 men). Davout’s 

expectation, however, was that in all probability some 59.000 would turn out. 
58

 

Of these 117.800 men, 82.560 were called for and by early June of these, 52.446 men had been 

listed, while 23.448 were on their way to their units. Additionally, some 15.000 volunteers 

enlisted.  

The call upon the navy to contribute to the field forces resulted in the period from the 25
th
 of 

April until the 15
th
 of June in the establishment of nine regiments of marins, five battalions of 

artillery and five companies of ouvriers militaires du génie, totalling 12.547 men. Results of 

recruting were not satisfactory due to the fact that some coastal areas had royalist sympathies. 

On paper, the national guard would consist of  3131 battalions, in all more than two million men. 

Of those, in the period between the 10
th
 of April and the 10

th
 of May, 461 battalions were called 

up, i.e. 331.920 men, but recruitment proved to be hard and battalions were not on their full 

strength. The result was that the call was adjusted on the 19
th
 of May to 423 battalions (304.560 

men) and by mid June 284 battalions - some 150.000 men - were assembled in the armies or on 

their way to the depots. 
59

 

By early May, the moment Napoleon made up his mind about the fundamental choice what type 

of war it would be, he set all his priorities to the increase of the strength of the mobile army. 

Mobile forces which were used as garrisons in places fortes were to be relieved by auxiliary 

forces, while additional measures were taken to enlarge the mobile army. 

For example by mid May, so after Napoleon had decided for an offensive war in the north, 

soldiers who were on retirement were called up. In theory these could deliver about 94.000 men, 

but by mid June the total number did not exceed 20.000 men. 

The formation of foreign units, initiated in April, did not deliver more than 4000 men, but the 

majority of these units were still en dépot and unfit for war.The tirailleurs fédérés, however, 

were easily formed from the middle of May onwards (some 17.000 in Paris and 4000 in Lyon), 

but their equipment was defective. 

Finally, as the class of 1815 was summoned late May, this resulted in about 46.000 men (of the 

expected 120.000) but these were not available for the mobile army in time for the campaign 

which was to start on the 14th of June (see above).  

The résumé given above shows the problems Napoleon was faced with in the formation of his 

forces and the time-constraints he was in, due to an imminent allied invasion. It doesn’t help us, 

however, in determining the factors  used by Napoleon for the calculation and distribution of 

these forces, and in particular for those he reserved against his enemies in the Netherrlands. 

Somehow, however, Napoleon apparently considered 125.000 men sufficient for the war in the 

Netherlands. 
60

 

In his memoirs, Napoleon assigns the armies of Wellington and Blüchers strengths of 104.000 

and 120.000 men respectively. To oppose them he puts 140.000 men in the Armée du Nord. 

Other than that these figures are too high in themselves, they do not reflect their situation early 

May. By then both the Anglo-German-Netherlands and Prussian armies may have counted about 
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120.000 men in total. It should also not be forgotten that by the moment Napoleon developed his 

offensive plan, a major increase of his mobile forces was yet to take place. 
61

 

The formula in the difference of the quality of the armies, and not in their strengths as such, is 

expressed by Napoleon as “qu’un Anglais pouvait être compté pour un Francais, deux 

Hollandais, Prussiens ou hommes de la confédération, pour un Francais.” Resulting, he comes to 

an effective strength in qualities of both allied armies of 140.000 in total. 
62

  

In the quality of the French army relative to the allied armies his arrogance goes further by 

stating about their numerical superiority and his own way to handle this: “In this way he found 

in the secrets of warfare the supplementary means to weigh up against the hundred-thousand 

men he lacked; this plan was designed and executed with audacity and steadiness.”  
63

 

Whether the plan was executed in the way as Napoleon suggests is something which will be 

dealt with in further chapters, but to state that the element of surprise would count for 

balancing out 100.000 men is way over the top. 

In former French victorious battles where the enemy had a strong numerical superiority over 

the French, the ratio varied from roughly 1 : 1.1 to 1 : 1.6 (French forces : Allied forces). In 

the case of the campaign of 1815 - in taking into account that the Armée du Nord eventually 

counted 125.000 men - this would mean that Napoleon would have calculated the total 

number of both allied armies in the Netherlands to be maximum 210.000 men strong, but this 

model is of course mere rough speculation, as it doesn’t take into account the way the forces 

increased in time on both sides. 
64

 

 

In the discussion about a concentration against Wellington and Blücher, Napoleon is sometimes 

blamed for not having pulled the armée du Rhin towards him for use in the campaign in the 

Netherlands. An argument is that Rapp, with his 19.000 men, was now used for a secondary 

purpose, which was detrimental to a maximal concentration, needed for a decisive manoeuvre in 

the north. And in case of an invasion, Rapp would be too weak anyway to resist the vast numbers 

of Schwarzenberg’s forces. Additionally, in case of misfortune in the Netherlands, he would not 

be able to come to the aid of Napoleon, being tied down himself by the allied invasion. 

On the other hand, there were also good reasons for Napoleon to keep Rapp where he was. To 

remove the Armée du Rhin would not only expose the Alsace and Lorraine to the allied forces, it 

was just this area which was an important sector for them to invade France. In that sense, Rapp’s 

absence would  destabilize the general defence line in the east of the country. Also, the removal 

of Rapp’s army would make a weak impression upon the local population. From a military point 

of view, it was also important that a march towards the centre of the frontier in the north would 

strongly diminish the element of surprise in the concentration of the Armée du Nord there. From 

its great length (just more than 400 kilometres) it would be simply impossible to mask it from 

enemy detection. 
65

 

As has been shown, it was on the 25
th
 of May that Napoleon instructed general Gérard to 

concentrate his entire army corps before the 1st of June in columns between Thionville and 

Metz, either to manoeuvre with the Armée du Rhin, or to close upon the Armée du Nord. At 

the same time, on the 23
rd

 of May, Napoleon also instructed Rapp to be ready, from the 5
th

 of 

June onwards, to put his corps in motion within a time-frame of two hours. 
66

 

Was Napoleon in doubt where to use the armée de la Moselle, for the armée du Rhin he 

apparently wasn’t. This stems from the fact that Rapp would need at least 14 days to cover the 

distance involved and that implied that Napoleon would have had to send out march-orders by 

the 26
th

 or 27
th

 of May in case he had wished him to be with the Armée du Nord by the 14
th

  of 

June. 
67

 It was now just three days before this date that he ordered him to be ready for a 

possible departure within two hours from the 5
th

 of June onwards. In this intention it becomes 

clear that Rapp was supposed to play a role in case things would not work out in the 
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Netherlands as they were supposed to do. In other words: Rapp was to take his part in the 

defensive war which would then take place.  

Eventually, Rapp neither received orders to move towards Napoleon, nor to leave his 

positions on the 5
th

 of June. It was on the 14
th

 of June that orders left imperial headquarters for 

his grand strategy in a defensive war (see above). 

To blame Napoleon for not having used the Armée du Rhin for his war in the Netherlands 

right from the beginning is a conclusion drawn too easily as it is one drawn from hindsight. 

Other than that, as there is no authentic evidence on the proportions Napoleon worked from in 

the configuration of his Armée du Nord in relation to his opponents, any remarks in this 

respect should be handled with care.   
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Charras’ figures are significantly lower as he does not include the forces which are included 

by Houssaye, like those which were en route, those in the depots, in hospitals and those at 

Elba and the colonies (leaving these out one comes for Houssaye on 176.566 men)  

Regnault comes for the 10th of June on 284.000 men, of which 172.000 were available  for 

the mobile army and the observations-corps. Some groups, however, were not available like 

those in Elba and the colonies (4700 men),  those in the hospitals (8162 men), those of the 

artillery and engineers in the places fortes (11.233 men) and those in the depots (65.118 

men)., totalling 89.213 men. This leaves about 195.000 men, of which about 14.000 were en 

route on the 10th of June between the depots and the regiments. It can be assumed, according 

to Regnault, that of these about 4000 to 5000 men had reached their units by the 14th of June. 

In this way, he comes to a total of about 185.000 men.  

Charras includes the Armée du Nord (128.088 men - Houssaye: 124.139 men) and 52.820 

men of the other corps and armies, but in the strengths of these there are major differences 

with Houssaye (cf.table below) 

 

Auxiliary army: 

Houssaye gives 222.266  men (June) and Charras 210.000 men (15
th

 of June), while Napoleon 

gives 196.000 men (1
st
 of June) 

Differences between Houssaye and Charras are not very significant. Within these numbers 

those for the national guard given are 150.000 men (Charras), 135.000 men (Houssaye) and 

112.000 men (Napoleon).  

Part of the auxiliary army was in the field and part in the places fortes. Of these, parts of the 

national guard were assigned to the observation corps. 
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According to Napoleon, the auxiliary army contained 200 battalions of national guards of 560 

men each (112.000), 20 regiments of navy / sailors (30.000), 10 battalions navy artillery 

(8000), gardes-côtes (6000), veterans (10.000) and militaires en retraite et réformés, in the 

places fortes (30.000). 

 

Table of the armies / corps (except for the Armée du Nord): 

 

Opposite the High Rhine: 

 

Lecourbe: 

 

Houssaye: 8420 men (15
th

 of June) 

St.Chamant: 8000 men  

Charras: 4446 men (10
th

 of June) 

Mémoires: 5392 men (1
st
 of June) 

 

Rapp (Elzas) 

 

Houssaye: 19.992 men (20
th

 of June) 

St.Chamant: 17.244 men (13
th

 of June) 

Charras: 19.031 men 

Mémoires: 20.564 men (1
st
 of June) 

 

Opposite Italy: 

 

Brune (Var): 

 

Houssaye: 5944 men (20
th

 of June) 

Charras: 4081 men (20
th

 of June) 

Mémoires: 6116 men (1
st
 of June) 

St.Chamant: 6000 men (4
th

 of June) 

 

Suchet (Alps) 

 

Mémoires: 15.764 men (1
st
 of June) 

Houssaye: 23.617 men (15
th

 of June) 

Charras: 8814 men (10
th

 of June) 

St.Chamant: 26.098 men 

 

Opposite Spain: 

 

Decaen (eastern Pyrenees): 

 

Houssaye: 7633 men (1
st
 of June) 

Charras: 3945 men (1
st
 of June) 

Mémoires: 3516 men (1
st
 of June) 

 

Clausel (western Pyrenees): 
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Houssaye: 6820 men (10
th

 of June) 

Charras: 3933 men (1
st
 of June) 

Mémoires: 3516 men (1
st
 of June) 

 

In the Vendée: 

 

Lamarque: 

Houssaye: 10.000 men (1
st
 of June) 

Charras: 8570 men (20
th

 of June) 

Mémoires: 24.520 men (1
st
 of June) 

 

For all these strengths, cf. 

Houssaye, H. - 1815.Waterloo p.33-35 

Charras, J.B.A. - Histoire de la campagne de 1815 p.46-48 

Mémoires pour servir etc. p.323, 327-330 

St.Chamant, C. de – Les dernières armées p.256, 269, 301 

Regnault, J.  - La campagne de 1815; mobilisation et concentration p.129 

Plotho, C. von - Der Krieg des Verbundeten Europa gegen Frankreich im Jahre 1815 p.11 

Clausewitz, Von -  Hinterlassene Werke p.6 
 
58

 Report of Davout, bearing no date (most probably 25
th

 or 26
th

 of March). In: Houssaye, H. – 

1815. Waterloo p.2-3 
 
59

 Regnault defines this total of 284 battalions as: 

251 battalions (144.000 men) resulting from the imperial decrees from before the 1
st
 of May. 

Of these 251, 189 were battalions (112.000 men) in the places fortes and 62 battalions 

(32.000 men) in the reserve divisions. 

The remaining 33 battalions (24.000 men) being supplementary battalions which were the 

result of the decrees of the 10th of May (these were supposed to produce 92 battalions). In: La 

campagne de 1815 p.122-126 

Carnot mentions 417 battalions, totalling a little more as 300.0000 men. Cf. “Exposé de la 

situation de l’empire” dated 13
th

 June 1815. In: Archives parlementaires de 1787 à 1860 p.421 
 
60

 In a report dated 4
th

 of June Soult resumes for the emperor the total strength of the armée du 

Nord as comprising 92.867 men infantry, 22.347 men cavalry and 10.566 men in the artillery 

/ engineers. Grand total: 125.780. In: Registre de correspondance et rapports du maréchal 

Soult à l'Empereur (9 Mai - 6 Juin 1815) In: Bibliothèque municipale, ville de Nantes, N° 

CGM : 1201 

 

By late April Napoleon suggested to have a force of about 80.000 men, forming the Armée du 

Nord. By the time Napoleon lost about 10.000 men from the Armée du Nord for the Vendée, 

in the second half of May, this figure was balanced by the 4
th

 corps. By that time, it may have 

counted at least 10.000 men as well.  
 
61

 Regnault claims that Napoleon originally expected to have 150.000 men in the Armée du 

Nord by the time he needed it for the invasion in the Netherlands, mid June. For this figure he 

bases himself upon the strengths as Napoleon had set them for the units in his order dated 29
th

 

of March (Correspondance nr.21741). 
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This calculation, however, is theoretical as Napoleon knew all too well that it were just these 

strengths which were almost impossible to reach in time. Aditionally, Regnault’s reasoning 

doesn’t take the time-frame of the allied invasion and its effect upon Napoleon’s plans in the 

north into account. In: La campagne de 1815 p.190 
 
62

 Mémoires pour servir etc. p.59 
 
63

 Mémoires pour servir etc. p.179-180 
 
64

 The figures mentioned have been based upon the following battles: 

Austerlitz: 1 : 1.1 

Jena and Dresden: 1 : 1.5 

Vauchamps: 1 : 1.6 

Others were remarkably higher such as: 

Montmirail: 1 : 1.8 

Auerstedt: 1 : 1.9 

Craonne and Leipzig: 1 : 2.2 

Eylau: 1 : 2.7 

In: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_Napoleonic_battles  
 
65

 Cf. Clausewitz, Von – Hinterlassene Werke p.7 

Charras, J.B.A. – Histoire de la campagne de 1815 Vol.II p.199 

Vaudoncourt, G.de - Histoire des campagnes de 1814 et 1815 en France Vol p.111 

Geoffroy, lieutenant - Travaux d’étude et d’état major – étude sur la concentration de l’armée 

francaise du Nord en 1815 p.48 

Lenient, E. – La solution des énigmes de Waterloo p. 

Lettow Vorbeck, Von – Napoleons Untergang Vol.III p.229 

Regnault, J.B. - La campagne de 1815 p.135-180 

  
66

 Regnault, J.B. - La campagne de 1815 p.157, 191-192 

Gérard accordingly concentrated his corps at and between Thionville, Fontoy and Metz, while 

his marches were masked by units of the national guard and the 3rd division militaire. 
 
67
 Regnault, J.B. - La campagne de 1815 p.164-165  

He calculates 13 stages of 31-32 kilometres each. 

Charras calculates 20 days for a distance of 360 kilometres, i.e. 18 kilometres a day.  

In: Histoire de la campagne de 1815 Vol.II p.199 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_Napoleonic_battles

